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P.O. Box 77208 Atlanta, Georgia 30357 | 770-303-8111| syoung@acluga.org 
 

September 18, 2017 

 

Brian B. Kemp (c/o Cristina Correia, Esq.)    

Office of Secretary of State    

2 Martin Luther King Jr., Drive, SE  

802 West Tower 

Atlanta, GA 30334    

 

CC:  Mary Carole Cooney, Chairperson (c/o Cheryl Ringer, Esq.) 

 Fulton County Board of Registration and Elections 

 130 Peachtree St., Suite 2186 

 Atlanta, GA 30303 

 

Via First-Class Mail and E-mail 

 

Re: Your list maintenance procedures’ compliance with federal and state law 

 

Dear Secretary of State Brian B. Kemp,  

 

This letter seeks to follow up on the various voter list maintenance problems that have 

recently been brought to your attention by the ACLU of Georgia and individual voters like 

Stacey Hopkins and Jennifer Hill, whom we represent, as well as Asian Americans Advancing 

Justice-Atlanta, Georgia Coalition for the People’s Agenda, and the Georgia State Conference of 

the NAACP. We hope to resolve these matters expeditiously, especially in light of rapidly 

approaching municipal elections. 

 

 First, as you are aware, 159,930 registered voters who recently informed the U.S. Postal 

Service that they have moved within the same county (“intra-county movers”) received notices 

threatening them with “inactive” status if they did not respond in 30 days, in violation of both 

federal and state law. See 52 U.S.C. § 20507; O.C.G.A. § 21-2-233(b). Litigation is currently 

pending against the Fulton County Board of Registration and Elections in Fulton County 

Superior Court on this issue.1 See Stacey Hopkins v. Fulton County Board of Registration and 

Elections, 2017CV293325. On August 30, 2017, you sent a letter stating that you “took steps to 

ensure those intra-county move records would stay in ‘Active’ status,” that you were working on 

                                                        
1 Fulton County’s position is that it is the Secretary of State’s responsibility to comply with 

O.C.G.A. § 21-2-233(b), not Fulton County. If necessary, we will amend our petition to join the 

Secretary of State as a defendant. 
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a system to accurately update their voter registrations to reflect their current address, and that 

you are coming up with a system to distinguish between voters who move within the same 

county and other movers. See Exhibit A. Though we appreciate this response, the letter was a bit 

short on details, ambiguous about whether you intend to update the addresses of all intra-county 

movers even if they have not provided more recent post-move address information, and did not 

address the statutory requirement that such voters receive a courtesy notice allowing them to 

“verify or correct” that information, with no consequence attached if they do not respond. 52 

U.S.C. § 20507(c)(1)(B)(i); O.C.G.A. § 21-2-233(b).  

 

 Second, as you are also aware, about 300 registered voters of the City of Thunderbolt—

over 10% of that city’s population—were about to be purged from the voter rolls on August 30, 

2017, on the basis that their names did not appear on the municipality’s water bills, or on other 

grounds that the voter had allegedly changed residence. The Chatham County Board of 

Registrars responded immediately to our letters by cancelling the planned purge and confirmed 

in writing that this violation would be rectified. See Exhibit B. Notably, the Board indicated that 

“[t]he Secretary of State has indicated it will be issuing educational materials to ensure there is a 

uniform process throughout the state for voter removal that is consistent and compliant with the 

NVRA.” See id.  

 

It is the responsibility of the Georgia Secretary of State to ensure that all United States 

citizens and eligible Georgia voters have, and can easily exercise, their sacred and fundamental 

right to vote. Our electoral integrity depends on it. And our most immediate concern is with the 

intra-county movers who received one of these erroneous notices, which can be confusing and 

intimidating, especially to voters with less income or educational background. The best way to 

cure this injury is for them to receive a follow-up mailing from your office assuring them that 

they are active, registered voters and are able to vote this November.  

 

We thus ask that you take the following steps to confirm your compliance with federal 

and state law, and also to cure the voter intimidation and confusion that these violations have 

caused, especially in light of rapidly approaching municipal elections. We ask that you take the 

following steps:  

 

1) Identify the exact “steps” you took to “ensure” that the 159,930 intra-county movers’ 

registration information stayed in “Active” status; 

 

2) Provide a timeline of when you will update the voter registration information of all 

159,930 intra-county movers—not just some of them—to reflect the most recent address 

information you have on file (which may be the information reflecting their recent intra-

county move);  

 

3) Send—as soon as possible—curative notices to all 159,930 intra-county movers: a) 

assuring them that they remain active, registered voters and that they are able to vote this 

November; b) informing them that their voter registration information has been updated 

to reflect the latest address you have on file, and what that address is, and their new 

voting precinct and polling place; and c) that they may verify or correct such information, 
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without any consequence if they do not respond;*  

 

4) Provide a copy of the courtesy notice you will be issuing to all future intra-county movers 

pursuant to federal and state law, informing them that their voter registration has been 

automatically updated to reflect their recent intra-county move, their new voting precinct 

and polling place, and informing them that they may verify or correct such information 

but that there will be no consequences if they do not respond. This courtesy notice must 

be different in form and content than the notice issued to all other movers; 

 

5) Issue Public Service Announcements on your website, in the media as well as in smaller 

media markets directed to Black, Hispanic, and Asian-American voters—available in all 

covered languages—informing voters of their rights and ensuring intra-county movers 

that their registration information remains active and that they are eligible to vote this 

November; as well as the assets needed for all counties to include this on their websites; 

 

6) Provide copies of the “educational materials” you will provide to all the counties “to 

ensure there is a uniform process throughout the state for voter removal that is consistent 

and compliant with the NVRA,” Exhibit B, including materials instructing the counties 

not to purge voters on the grounds that voters have changed residence (e.g., because their 

names do not appear on water bills), unless they have complied with the strict procedures 

set forth in the NVRA. 

 

Thank you for your prompt attention. We look forward to pursuing our shared interest in 

pursuing a more inclusive democracy and ensuring that every U.S. citizen and eligible Georgia 

voter is able to exercise their fundamental right to vote.  

Sincerely, 

 
 

Sean J. Young 

Legal Director 

ACLU of Georgia  

 

Sophia Lin Lakin 

Staff Attorney 

ACLU Voting Rights Project 

 

 

Phi Nguyen 

Litigation Director 

Asian Americans Advancing Justice-Atlanta  

 

 

 

 

* We understand that there may be a concern that the Notice of Change of Address information 

relied upon by your office might be old (up to 4 years), and might not reflect the voter’s actual, 

current address, and that any mailing to such voters returned as undeliverable may trigger a 

separate confirmation notice procedure (and potentially removal) described in O.C.G.A. § 21-2-

234(b). Without conceding that such a provision applies in this highly unique circumstance or 
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that it is compliant with the NVRA, we would simply note that the initial erroneous mailing to 

the 159,930 voters would have already triggered this provision if any of them were returned as 

undeliverable and not received by the voters. Resending a curative notice to all 159,930 voters in 

the exact same manner would not entail any additional consequence for the voters living in 

undeliverable mailing addresses. And to the extent that the initial mailing is exempt from 

O.C.G.A. § 21-2-234(b), a subsequent mailing in the same manner should be exempt as well. 

 

As noted above, our primary concern is that the voters who did receive the erroneous notice 

receive immediate, government-backed assurance that their right to vote is protected. Resending 

a curative notice to all 159,930 voters in the exact same manner would best ensure that the voters 

who did receive the initial erroneous notice will also receive the new notice assuring them that 

they can vote this November. 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 







 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 
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